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DECISION 


James Andrew Thurman’s real estate broker-officer license is subject to discipline because he mishandled escrow monies and committed wire fraud.  
Procedure


The Missouri Real Estate Commission (“the MREC”) filed a complaint on August 29, 2006, asserting that Thurman’s license is subject to discipline.  Thurman filed an answer on October 30, 2006.  On November 29, 2006, the MREC filed a motion for summary determination.  We gave Thurman until December 22, 2006, to respond, but he did not respond.  

Our Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.440(3)(B) provides that we may decide this case in any party’s favor without a hearing if any party establishes facts that (a) no party disputes and 
(b) entitle any party to a favorable decision.  

Findings of Fact

1. Thurman held a real estate broker-officer license, which expired on June 30, 2006.  His license was current and active at all relevant times.  
2. Thurman formed Phoenix Title in 1996, and formed James Andrew Properties in 2002.  Both Phoenix Title and James Andrew Properties operated from the same building in St. Charles, Missouri.  Thurman operated Phoenix Title and James Andrew Properties since their formation.  
3. Phoenix Title conducted real estate closings and loan closings for its customers.  In order to conduct these closings, Phoenix Title was obligated to receive money from lenders for a particular loan, hold the money in escrow, receive and hold a customer’s earnest money deposit, and then use these monies to make payments in accordance with the particular loan’s settlement statement.  In most instances the largest outgoing payments were used to purchase residences, in the case of original mortgages, or were used to pay off first mortgages, in the case of refinancings.  
4. Phoenix Title held bank accounts at First Bank in St. Charles, Missouri.  
5. Beginning in 2002 and continuing until April 2005, Thurman knowingly and willfully devised and intended to devise a scheme to defraud by material falsehoods and to obtain money and property by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises to Phoenix Title’s customers, in the following manner:  
· Thurman fraudulently transferred a total of approximately $35,000 from Phoenix Title’s customers’ escrow funds at First Bank into Thurman’s personal account at First Bank. 
· Thurman fraudulently transferred a total of approximately $3,805,536.91 from Phoenix Title’s customers’ escrow funds at First Bank to James Andrew Properties. 


6.
Thurman knowingly and willfully caused Phoenix Title to continue to accept escrow deposits from customers while knowingly and willfully omitting the material fact that Phoenix Title had a large shortage in its escrow funds.  


7.
On May 19, 2005, Thurman was indicted for wire fraud in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Missouri.  

8.
On August 26, 2005, Thurman pled guilty to the charges in Count I of the indictment.
  The court sentenced him to 63 months in prison and ordered him to pay $2,032,019.43 in restitution.  
Conclusions of Law


We have jurisdiction to hear the MREC’s complaint.  Section 339.100.2 and 621.045.1.
  

Section 339.100.2 provides:
  
The [MREC] may cause a complaint to be filed with the administrative hearing commission as provided by law when the [MREC] believes there is a probability that a licensee has performed or attempted to perform any of the following acts: 

(1) Failure to maintain and deposit in a special account, separate and apart from his personal or other business accounts, all moneys belonging to others entrusted to him while acting as a real estate broker, or as escrow agent, or as the temporary custodian of the funds of others, until the transaction involved is consummated or terminated, unless all parties having an interest in the funds have agreed otherwise in writing; 

(2) Making substantial misrepresentations or false promises or suppression, concealment or omission of material facts in the conduct of his business or pursuing a flagrant and continued course 
of misrepresentation through agents, salespersons, advertising or otherwise in any transaction; 

(3) Failing within a reasonable time to account for or to remit any moneys, valuable documents or other property, coming into his possession, which belongs to others; 
*   *   *


(14) Violation of, or attempting to violate, directly or indirectly, or assisting or enabling any person to violate, any provision of sections 339.010 to 339.180, or of any lawful rule adopted pursuant to sections 339.010 to 339.180; 

(15) Committing any act which would otherwise be grounds for the commission to refuse to issue a license under section 339.040; 
*   *   *


(17) Been finally adjudicated and found guilty, or entered a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, in a criminal prosecution under the laws of this state or any other state or of the United States, for any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated under this chapter, for any offense an essential element of which is fraud, dishonesty or an act of violence, or for any offense involving moral turpitude, whether or not sentence is imposed[.]

I.  Section 339.100.2(1), (2) and (3) 

Thurman failed to maintain and deposit moneys belonging to others into a special account separate and apart from his personal account and his other business account.  Instead he deposited escrow monies into his personal account and the account of James Andrew Properties.  Therefore, there is cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(1). 

Thurman fraudulently transferred money from escrow accounts to his personal account and to James Andrew Properties’ account.  He also knowingly and willfully caused Phoenix Title to continue to accept escrow deposits from customers while knowingly and willfully omitting the material fact that Phoenix Title had a large shortage in its escrow funds.  Thurman made 
substantial misrepresentations or concealed material facts in the conduct of his business.  Therefore, there is cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(2).  


Thurman also failed within a reasonable time to account for or remit monies coming into his possession that belonged to another.  There is cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(3).   

II.  Violation of Statutes and Regulations

Section 339.105.1 provides: 

Each broker shall maintain a separate bank checking account in a financial institution, either a bank, savings and loan association or a credit union in this state . . . which shall be designated an escrow or trust account in which all money not his own coming into his possession, including funds in which he may have some future interest or claim, shall be deposited promptly[.]

Effective August 28, 2003, § 339.105.1 was amended
 to state:  

Each broker who holds funds belonging to another shall maintain such funds in a separate bank account in a financial institution which shall be designated an escrow or trust account.  This requirement includes funds in which he or she may have some future interest or claim.  Such funds shall be deposited promptly unless all parties having an interest in the funds have agreed otherwise in writing.  No broker shall commingle his or her personal funds or other funds in this account with the exception that a broker may deposit and keep a sum not to exceed one thousand dollars in the account from his or her personal funds, which sum shall be specifically identified and deposited to cover service charges related to the account.

Regulation 20 CSR 2250-8.120
 provides:  

(4) Each broker shall deposit into the escrow or trust account all funds coming into the broker’s possession as set out in section 339.100.2(1), RSMo, including funds in which the broker may have some future interest or claim and including, but not limited to, earnest money deposits, prepaid rents, security deposits, loan proceeds and funds paid by or for the parties upon closing of the transaction.  No broker shall commingle personal funds or other 
funds in the broker’s escrow account except to the extent provided by section 339.105.1, RSMo. . . . 

*   *   *

(7) The designated broker and the branch office manager shall be responsible for the maintenance of the escrow account and shall ensure the brokerage’s compliance with the statutes and rules related to the brokerage escrow account(s).  


Thurman commingled personal funds and escrow funds.  His conduct spanned the time period from 2002 through April 2005, and violated both versions of § 339.105.1,
 as well as Regulation 20 CSR 2250-8.120.  Thurman is subject to discipline under § 339.100.2(14) for violating § 339.105.1 and Regulation 20 CSR 2250-8.120.  

III.  Grounds for Refusal of License

Section 339.040, RSMo Supp. 2005, provides: 


1.  Licenses shall be granted only to persons who present . . . satisfactory proof to the [MREC] that they:  

(1) Are persons of good moral character; and

(2) Bear a good reputation for honesty, integrity, and fair dealing; and

(3) Are competent to transact the business of a broker or salesperson in such a manner as to safeguard the interest of the public.  

Good moral character is honesty, fairness, and respect for the law and the rights of others.
  When the MREC proves a criminal conviction, we determine moral character from the person’s 
conduct, present reputation, evidence of any rehabilitation, and upon “a consideration and determination of the entire factual congeries.”
  


We find that Thurman’s actions demonstrate that he is not a person of good moral character and is not competent to transact the business of a real estate broker-officer.  These are grounds for the MREC to refuse to issue a license under § 339.040.1(1) and (3), which is cause to discipline Thurman’s license under § 339.100.2(15).


The MREC failed to prove that it would have cause to deny a license under § 339.040.1(2).  Reputation means “the estimation in which one is generally held : the character commonly imputed to one as distinct from real or inherent character[.]”
  Reputation is a “consensus view of many people[.]”
  The MREC presented no evidence of Thurman’s reputation.
IV.  Guilty Plea


The MREC asserts that Thurman pled guilty to a crime:

· reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of the profession; 
· an essential element of which is fraud or dishonesty; and
· involving moral turpitude. 
A.  Related to the Profession


As previously discussed, Thurman’s offense relates to his professional qualifications because it relates to good moral character and competence to transact a salesperson’s business in a manner to safeguard the public interest.  There is cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(17).

Thurman’s offense is also related to his functions and duties as a real estate broker.  Section 339.010.1, RSMo Supp. 2005, provides: 
A "real estate broker" is any person . . . who, for another, and for a compensation or valuable consideration, does, or attempts to do, any or all of the following:   

(1) Sells, exchanges, purchases, rents, or leases real estate; 

(2) Offers to sell, exchange, purchase, rent or lease real estate; 

(3) Negotiates or offers or agrees to negotiate the sale, exchange, purchase, rental or leasing of real estate; 

(4) Lists or offers or agrees to list real estate for sale, lease, rental or exchange; 

(5) Buys, sells, offers to buy or sell or otherwise deals in options on real estate or improvements thereon; 

(6) Advertises or holds himself or herself out as a licensed real estate broker while engaged in the business of buying, selling, exchanging, renting, or leasing real estate; 

(7) Assists or directs in the procuring of prospects, calculated to result in the sale, exchange, leasing or rental of real estate; 

(8) Assists or directs in the negotiation of any transaction calculated or intended to result in the sale, exchange, leasing or rental of real estate; 

(9) Engages in the business of charging to an unlicensed person an advance fee in connection with any contract whereby the real estate broker undertakes to promote the sale of that person's real estate through its listing in a publication issued for such purpose intended to be circulated to the general public; 

(10) Performs any of the foregoing acts as an employee of, or on behalf of, the owner of real estate, or interest therein, or improvements affixed thereon, for compensation. 
Each of these functions involves handling the property, business, and financial interests of others.  In particular, we note that a real estate broker regularly accepts money to be held in escrow under § 339.105.  The crime of wire fraud is reasonably related to the functions and duties of a real estate broker.  There is cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(17).

B.  Fraud, Dishonesty and Moral Turpitude

Fraud is an intentional perversion of truth to induce another, in reliance on it, to part with some valuable thing belonging to him.
  It necessarily includes dishonesty, which is a lack of integrity or a disposition to defraud or deceive.
  Moral turpitude is:

an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowman or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty between man and man; everything “done contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.”[
]

Title 18 U.S.C. § 1343 provides:

Whoever, having devised or intending to devise any scheme or artifice to defraud, or for obtaining money or property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises, transmits or causes to be transmitted by means of wire, radio, or television communication in interstate or foreign commerce, any writings, signs, signals, pictures, or sounds for the purpose of executing such scheme or artifice, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than 20 years, or both.  If the violation affects a financial institution, such person shall be fined not more than $1,000,000 or imprisoned not more than 30 years, or both.

The crime of wire fraud is a crime involving moral turpitude.
  It is also a crime essential elements of which is fraud or dishonesty.  There is cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(17).
Summary


We find cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(1), (2), (3), (14), (15), and (17).  We cancel the hearing.  

SO ORDERED on January 11, 2007.



________________________________



JUNE STRIEGEL DOUGHTY 



Commissioner

	�The guilty plea is an admission of the conduct charged.  Nichols v. Blake, 418 S.W.2d 188, 190 (Mo. 1967).  Thurman offers nothing to explain away his plea.  We have made our findings of fact accordingly.  


	�Statutory references are to the 2000 Revised Statutes of Missouri, unless otherwise noted.  


	�Section 339.100.2 was amended, effective August 28, 2004.  H.B. 985, 2004 Mo. Laws 383-85.  Paragraphs 14, 15 and 17 were renumbered as paragraphs 15, 16 and 18, respectively.  We generally determine discipline according to the statutes in effect at the time of the conduct in question.  Comerio v. Beatrice Foods Co., 595 F. Supp. 918, 920-21 (E.D. Mo. 1984).  In this case, because the amendments are minor and are not relevant to this case, we quote the RSMo 2000 version, which the MREC quoted in its complaint.  We note that the first sentence of the amended version expressly allows discipline of an expired license.  


	�H.B. 600, 2003 Mo. Laws 686.  


	�This regulation was moved from 4 CSR 250-8.120, effective August 28, 2006, but the language was not changed.  


	�The MREC’s complaint cites only the RSMo 2000 version.  Because the amendment did not change the duty to keep escrow funds out of one’s personal account, Thurman was given sufficient notice of what law he violated.  Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.350(2)(A)4.  


	�Hernandez v. State Bd. of Regis’n for Healing Arts, 936 S.W.2d 894, 899 n.1 (Mo. App., W.D. 1997).  


	�State Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts v. Finch, 514 S.W.2d 608, 614 (Mo. App., K.C.D. 1974).  See also State Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts v. DeVore, 517 S.W.2d 480, 486 (Mo. App., K.C.D. 1974).


	�WEBSTER’S THIRD NEW INTERNATIONAL DICTIONARY 1929 (unabr. 1986).


	�Haynam v. Laclede Elec. Coop., 827 S.W.2d 200, 206 (Mo. banc 1992).


	�State ex rel. Williams v. Purl, 128 S.W. 196, 201 (Mo. 1910).  


	�MERRIAM-WEBSTER’S COLLEGIATE DICTIONARY 359 (11th ed. 2004).


	� In re Frick, 694 S.W.2d 473, 479 (Mo. banc 1985) (quoting In re Wallace, 19 S.W.2d 625 (Mo. banc 1929)).


	�See State Bd. of Nursing v. Heck, No. 05-0900 BN (Mo. Admin. Hearing Comm’n Dec. 6, 2005).
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